RECEIVED

Aug 17 2020

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

**MILTON G. KIMPSON, JUDGE
SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT**

**Docket No. 18-ALJ-17-0198-CC
Appellate Case No: 2019-001800**

Habibunnisa BegumRespondent

v.

Florence County Tax Assessor Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**D. Malloy McEachin, Jr.
D. Malloy McEachin, Jr., P.A.
180 N. Irby Street, MSC-XX
Florence, South Carolina 29501
Phone: (843) 665-0135
Fax: (843) 665-0716
malloy@mceachinlawfirm.com
SC Bar No: 3794
Attorney for Appellant, Florence County
Tax Assessor**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 21, 2016 the respondent purchased a home in Florence County in which she resides with her family. The respondent is employed by the Marion County School District and is in the United States under the Immigration and Nationality Act (“INA”) as a nonimmigrant worker visa status commonly called H-1B. On March 7, 2017 the Respondent applied to the Appellant for the four percent (4%) special assessment on real property. The Respondent was asked to present evidence that the property was her legal residence and that she had been domiciled at that address during the applicable tax year.

She was interviewed by the Florence County Tax Assessor and asked to provide information concerning her status in the United States. She provided an IMS Form I-797B which indicated that she was legally present in the United States as a nonimmigrant pursuant to an H-1B work visa, a temporary visa.

The Respondent has been living and working in South Carolina since 2005.

The Appellant having viewed the Respondent’s submissions, denied the Respondent’s request for the four percent (4%) special assessment. The exemption from taxation the Respondent sought was denied because she failed to meet the residency and domiciliary requirement of S.C. Code Ann. §12-43-220 (c)(2)(i). The Respondent appealed this denial to the Florence County Board of Assessment Appeals. This Board upheld the denial.

The Respondent then appealed the denial of her request to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court. A hearing was held on February 20, 2019. The Order of the Administrative Law Court was rendered on October 2, 2019. This Appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from an Administrative Law Court decision, the Administrative Procedures Act establishes the standard of review, S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-610 (B). If this Court determines that the Administrative Law Court's decision was supported by substantial evidence, the Court need only find, looking at the entire record, evidence which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion as the Administrative Law Court. *Hill v. SC Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 389 S.C. 1, 9 – 10, 698 S.E. 2d, 612, 617 (2010). But in the event the decision of the Administrative Law Court is in violation of a statutory provision or it is affected by an error of law, this Court may reverse the decision of the Administrative Law Court. *Alltell Commc'ns, Inc. v. SC Dep't of Revenue*, 399 S.C. 313, 316 731 S.E. 2d 869, 870 – 871 (2012).

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The Respondent is in the United States on a temporary work visa (R. p. 61 LL12-15). The only IMS document placed in evidence by the Respondent was the I-797B, Notice of Action (R. p. 110-111). This document recognizes the Respondent's status in the United States as that of a nonimmigrant worker, class H-1B.

The Respondent contends that she is seeking a permanent residency status known as a Green Card and that she has filed an INS Form I-140. She was requested by the Florence County Tax Assessor to provide all IMS documents and the only document she provided was the I-797B. (R. p. 81 LL 20 – R. p. 82 L 11; R. p. 110 - 111).

ARGUMENTS

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THE RESPONDENT QUALIFIED FOR THE FOUR PERCENT (4%) SPECIAL ASSESSMENT PURSUANT TO THE S.C. CODE ANN. §12-43-220 (C)(2)(I) AND (II)?

The Administrative Law Court went to great lengths to analyze the Immigration Nationality Act (“INA”). The Respondent contends she is seeking permanent residency status though she is presently in the United States through a nonimmigrant worker visa or status commonly called H-1B. To become a permanent resident, the Respondent’s employer obtains a labor certificate from the Department of Labor certifying that there are insufficient able, willing and qualified workers to fulfill the job for the Respondent and that hiring her would not adversely affect the wages or working conditions of those similarly employed. U.S.C.A. §1153 (B)(3)(C) and §1182 (a)(5)(A)(i). Next, the employer must approve an immigrant visa petition that assigns the Respondent one of the INA’s immigrant visa preference categories for employment-based permanent residency. 8 U.S.C.A. Sections 1154(a)(1)(F), 1255(a)(2). This petition is called an I-140 (R. p. 61 LL 16 – p. 62 L 18)

Though the Respondent disputes that she was asked for the I-140 form by the Florence County Tax Assessor (R. p. 62 LL19 – p. 63 L. 2), the Florence County Tax Assessor testified he did. (R. p. 81 LL 20 - R. p. 82 L11). The burden is on the Respondent to provide all information of her legal status in the United States. S. C. Code Ann. §12-43-220(c)(2)(iv).

A visa is not received upon approval of the Respondent’s employer I-140 petition because there is a quota where only a certain number of visas are made available per country of

origin each calendar quarter, 8 U.S.C.A. §1151 (a) (2), 1152 (a). The I-140 Petition makes the Respondent eligible to receive a visa once one becomes available.

Finally, the Respondent must apply for an adjustment of status to become a permanent resident, 8 U.S.C.A. §1255 (a). This application is called an I-485 Petition. This is an application to register permanent residence or adjust status 8 C.F.R. §204.5 (n)(1). The I-485 application cannot be filed until the visa is immediately available 8 U.S.C.1255 (a)(3); 8 C.F.R. § 245.2 (a)(2).

The only evidence from the INS before the Administrative Law Court was the I-797B. None of the other forms that are required for the change in status for the Respondent were supplied to the Appellant or introduced into evidence at the hearing before the Administrative Law Court.

The evidence before the court shows that the Respondent must renew her H-1B visa periodically to remain in the United States. The Respondent testified that she, at least on one occasion, had to leave the United States and return to India to renew her passport. (R. p. 65 LL 6- R p. 66 L 10). She has to return to India for that country to grant her a new Indian Passport (R. p. 65 LL 6 – R. p. 66 L 10). Since she is under the jurisdiction of India, she is currently a resident of India.

The Respondent is present in the United States on a temporary visa. SC Code Ann. §12-43-220 provides that for an individual to qualify for the four percent (4%) special assessment the following has to be met:

“The owner occupant must have actually owned and occupied the residence as his legal residence and been domiciled at the address for some period during the applicable tax year. A residence which has been qualified for a legal residence for any part of the year is entitled to the four percent (4%) assessment ratio provided in this item for the

entire year, for the exemption for property taxes leveled for school operations pursuant to §12-37-251 for the entire year, and for the homestead exemption under §12-37-250, if otherwise eligible, for the entire year. SC Code Ann. §12-43-220 (c)(2)(i) in addition the Respondent, to qualify for the four percent (4%) special assessment must certify the following:

(a) The residence which is the subject of this application is my legal residence and where I am domiciled at the time of this application and that neither I, nor any member of my household, claim to be a legal residence of a jurisdiction other than South Carolina for any purpose; and

(b) that neither I, nor a member of our household, claimed the special ratio allowed by this section on another residence. SC Code Ann §12-43-220 (c)(2)(ii).”

It is undisputed that the respondent owns the property in which she is claiming the four percent (4%) special assessment and that she lived on the property during the applicable tax year. The dispute in this case is whether or not the Respondent is a legal resident of a jurisdiction other than South Carolina for any purpose.

Her home country had to authorize an Indian passport for her to return to the United States. Without that permission from her country, India, she would have been unable to return.

In *Ravenel vs. Dekle*, 265 SC 364, 218 S.E.2d 521 (S.C.1975) the South Carolina Supreme Court addressed the meaning of the term domicile. The court citing, *Gasque v. Gasque*, 246 SC 423, 143 S.E. 2d 811 (1965), held “The term domicile means the place where a person has his true, fixed and permanent home and principle establishment, to which he has, whenever he is absent an intention of returning. The Court in *Ravenel* stated “...intent is the most important element in determining the domicile of any individual. It is also elementary, however, that any expressed intent on the part of a person must be evaluated in the light of his conduct which is either consistent or inconsistent with such expressed intent.” Id. 528. For intent to be operative, there must be an ability to exercise intent. Having a nonimmigrant temporary status precludes the realization of intent to have a permanent residence in Florence County. Though

the Respondent has expressed her intent that her property in Florence County is her residence, she does not have the legal status to realize her desire. She is subject to being removed from South Carolina by either the United States or her home country of India. (R. p. 66 LL 24 – R. p. 67 L 5) Though the Administrative Law Court found that the Respondent testified that she was not required to return to India, the Respondent was required to return to India to renew her passport. This was required so that she could remain in the United States. (R. p. 65 LL 6- R. p. 66 L 10).

Legal residence as defined in S.C. Code Ann. §12-43-220 is a tax exemption statute. Tax Exemption statutes are strictly construed against the taxpayer *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville City Assessor* 395 SC 67, 716 S.E. 2nd 877 (2011), *TNS Mills v. SCDOR*, 331 SC 611, 618, 503 S.C. 2nd 471, 475 (1998) The Respondent is not hired on a permanent basis. She is engaged annually by the Marion County School District (Petitioner's Exhibit 7). This contract is contingent on the Respondent maintaining her teaching certificate as well as federal funding for her position. It is also a contract of employment for one year, the 2018-2019 school year. The H-1B status of the Respondent does not give her the status of an immigrant. She is in the United States on a temporary basis with temporary employment. Her H-1B visa clearly states that she is not a resident of any state, much less Florence County.

For these reasons, the decision of the Administrative Law Court should be reversed.

II. DID THE COURT ERR IN HOLDING THE STATUS OF THE RESPONDENT UNDER THE IMMIGRATION NATURALIZATION ACT (INA) WAS OTHER THAN THAT OF A NON-IMMIGRANT WORKER VISA (COMMONLY CALLED H-1B)?

The H-1B Visa program allows aliens to enter the United States on a temporary basis to perform certain specialty occupations including teaching 8 U.S.C.A. §1101(a)(15)(H)(i)(b). The legal status of an alien in the United States on an H-1B visa is that of a non-immigrant. This visa allows an individual to temporarily come to the United States to perform work. The statute simply provides that an alien may come “temporarily” into the United States to perform work. Pursuant to her contract with the Marion School District, the Respondent is not hired on a permanent basis, but year-to-year (Exhibit 7). The only official evidence in the record is the Respondent’s H-1B visa. This visa is the only documentary evidence that establishes the Respondent’s legal status in the United States. The Respondent placed into evidence a form I-797B. (R. p. 110 – 111) This document indicates an intent to adjust her legal status in the United States. However, this document also requires the Respondent to submit a form I-485 which is the application to become a permanent legal resident of the United States. The Administrative Law Court is required to rely on the evidence submitted to it. The fact that no I-485 was entered into evidence or an I-140 Petition leaves the only conclusion that the Respondent’s legal status in the United States is that of a non-immigrant temporarily in the United States on an H-1B work visa. The Respondent produced no evidence that she has filed an I-140 Petition.

Even if it is assumed that she had filed an I-140 petition, this is not evidence that she received the legal status of a legal permanent resident. The I-140 petition does not indicate that legal permanent residency has been obtained. There is a quota where only a certain number of visas are made available per country of origin each calendar quarter. 8 U.S.C. §1151 (a) (2), 1152 (a). As mentioned earlier, the Respondent would have to file an I-485 petition for her permanent legal residency. 8 U.S.C. §12-55 (a).

The Respondent is temporarily in the United States by all the evidence. During the tax year 2017 she did not have the legal right to reside permanently in the United States or in South Carolina. As such, she could not legally secure the intent to make her permanent place of residence in Florence County, South Carolina.

In *Guarrero v. McNair*, 157 So. 2nd 79, the Florida Supreme Court held that a citizen and former resident of a foreign country, who is in the United States solely on the authority of a temporary visa, “has no assurance that he can continue to reside in good faith for any fixed period of time in this country...[and, therefore] does not have the legal ability to determine for himself his future status and does not have the ability legally to convert a temporary residence into a permanent home.” *Id* at 81.

Similarly, in *DeQuervain v. Desguin*, 927 So. 2d 232 (Fla. 2d – DCA 2006), the Court found that homeowners who held only temporary visas “could not form the requisite intent to become permanent residents for purposes of the tax exemption”. *Id* at 233.

Legal residence as set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §12-43-220 (c) is a tax exemption statute which provides relief from ad valorem taxes. This statute must be construed

strictly against the Respondent, *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville City Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 716 S.E.2d 877 (2011).

The Administrative Law Court on February 12th, 2019 tried *Godhrawala v. Barnwell County Tax Assessor*, Docket number 18-ALJ-17-0395-CC under facts identical with the facts of this case. The Court concluded that an individual whose “Current status in this country is only temporary, ..cannot evidence the requisite intent to remain in South Carolina permanently to meet the ‘legal resident’ and ‘domicile’ ‘requirement of §12-43-220 (c)(2)(i). The Court held that the property did not qualify for the four percent (4%) Special Assessment. The Administrative Law Court in a decision issued on October 9, 2018 in the case of *Richland County Assessor v. Herrera*, Docket number 18-ALJ-17-0006-CC found where there was no immigration status, the tax payer could not perform the requisite intent to make property in South Carolina her domicile for purposes of the four percent (4%) special assessment. Similarly, in this case the Respondent has no definitive immigration status and is here purely as a nonimmigrant temporary worker.

Accordingly, the Administrative Law Court’s decision approving the application of the Respondent for the four percent (4%) Special Assessment should be reversed.

III. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GIVE DEFERENCE TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE INTERPRETATION OF S. C. CODE ANN. §12-43-220?

The Appellant consults with the South Carolina Department of Revenue regularly concerning tax issues. The Appellant, in regards to the administration of ad valorem taxes, operates under the guidance of the South Carolina Department of Revenue. The Appellant received correspondence from the South Carolina Department of Revenue opining that the Respondent did not qualify for the four percent 4% special assessment (Respondent's Exhibit 1). The Administrative Law Court failed to give deference to the South Carolina Department of Revenue's interpretation and application of S.C. Code Ann. §12-43-220. "When an agency charged with administering a statute or regulation has interpreted the statute or regulation, courts, including the Administrative Law Court, would defer to the agency's interpretation absent compelling reasons. 'We defer to an agency interpretation unless it is 'arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute'" *Kiawah Devp. Partners, II v. SC Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 411 S.C. 16 at 34-35, 766 S.C. 2nd 707 at 718 (S.C. 2014). The South Carolina Department of Revenue opined in Respondent's Exhibit 1 and Court's Exhibit 1 that the Respondent, or one similarly situated, did not qualify for the four percent 4% special assessment. The South Carolina Department of Revenue oversees the administration of ad valorem taxes by the various counties of this state.

The Administrative Law Court misconstrued its role in reviewing the directions of the South Carolina Department of Revenue. South Carolina Courts have long recognized that considerable weight should be accorded to the executive branch's construction of a statutory scheme which it oversees.

The South Carolina Department of Revenue's interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. §12-43-220 is neither arbitrary, capricious nor manifestly contrary to the statute. The South Carolina Department of Revenue's interpretation is reasonable and consistent with its regulation of the tax laws of the State of South Carolina.

The Administrative Law Court's decision rejects the South Carolina Department of Revenue's interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. §12-43-220. In examining the South Carolina Department of Revenue's interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. §12-43-220, the first issue is to determine if the statute directly speaks to the issue presented in this case. The referenced code section does not address an alien's legal status in the United States. As such, the next analysis is whether or not the South Carolina Department of Revenue's position is based on a permissible construction of the statute. If the Agency's opinion is without an arbitrary or a capricious interpretation, then the Agency's opinion should be given controlling weight. In other words, the Administrative Law Court may not substitute its own construction of the statute for a reasonable interpretation provided by the South Carolina Department of Revenue. The Appellate Court in this state has recognized that considerable weight should be accorded to an agency's construction of statute that the agency administers. *Kiawah Devp. Partners, II v. SC Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 411 S.C. 16, 34 766 S.E. 2d 707 (S.C. 2014).

Applying the principle of deference to administrative interpretations, the Administrative Law Court's decision should be reversed.

CONCLUSION

The Administrative Law Court erred as a matter of law in finding that the Respondent established residency pursuant to §12-43-220. By all the evidence before the Administrative Law Court, the Respondent is temporarily in the United States. She does not have the legal right to reside permanently in the State of South Carolina. As such, the Respondent could not legally secure the intent to make real property in Florence County her permanent place of residence. It is respectfully submitted that the decision of the Administrative Law Court be reversed.