STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from the South Carolina Administrative Law Court

Milton V. Kimpson, Presiding Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001800

---

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 19 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Habibunnisa Begum,.....Respondent,

v.

Florence County Tax Assessor,.....Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Kevin M. Barth  
S.C. Bar No. 559  
Barth, Ballenger & Lewis, LLP  
Post Office Box 107  
Florence, South Carolina 29503  
(843) 662-6301  
kbarth@bblawsc.com

AND

John D. (Jay) Elliott  
S.C. Bar No. 001869  
Post Office Box 607  
2927 Devine Street – Suite 120  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 252-9236

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

**ARGUMENT**

The judge of the ALC made the right decision. Respondent demonstrated that her property meets the criteria for assessment of real property taxes at the four percent rate under S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(c)(1). The criteria in this statute do not

reference United States citizenship of the owner, and there is nothing about Respondent's H-1B visa status that precludes this property from being her legal residence. The property, as a matter of fact, is Respondent's residence, as the ALC found. (R. pp. 2, 10-11, 28, 29.) Accordingly, the only thing that might prevent the subject property from being Respondent's "legal residence" under S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(c)(1) is a provision of law that prevents the law from recognizing the property as her residence. No such provision exists.

**I. The subject property, Respondent's home, is her legal residence.**

The statute at the heart of this case reads, in material part, as follows:

The legal residence and not more than five acres contiguous thereto, when owned totally . . . in fee . . . and occupied by the owner of the interest . . . are taxed on an assessment equal to four percent of the fair market value of the property. . . . [F]or purposes of the assessment ratio allowed pursuant to this item, a residence does not qualify as a legal residence unless the residence is determined to be the domicile of the owner-applicant.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(c)(1) (emphasis added).

The subsection following S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(c)(1) sets out the following with regard to what must be shown for property to be taxed at the four percent rate under S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(c)(1).

(2)(i) To qualify for the special property tax assessment ratio allowed by this item, the owner-occupant must have actually owned and occupied the residence as his legal residence and been domiciled at that address for some period during the applicable tax year. A residence which has been qualified as a legal residence for any part of the year is entitled to the four percent assessment ratio provided in this item for the entire year, for the exemption from property taxes levied for school operations pursuant to Section 12-37-251 for the entire

year, and for the homestead exemption under Section 12-37-250, if otherwise eligible, for the entire year.

(ii) This item does not apply unless the owner of the property or the owner's agent applies for the four percent assessment ratio before the first penalty date for the payment of taxes for the tax year for which the owner first claims eligibility for this assessment ratio. In the application the owner or his agent shall provide all information required in the application, and shall certify to the following statement:

"Under penalty of perjury I certify that:

(A) the residence which is the subject of this application is my legal residence and where I am domiciled at the time of this application and that neither I, nor any member of my household, claim to be a legal resident of a jurisdiction other than South Carolina for any purpose; and

(B) that neither I, nor a member of my household, claim the special assessment ratio allowed by this section on another residence."

(iii) For purposes of subitem (ii)(B) of this item, "a member of my household" means:

(A) the owner-occupant's spouse, except when that spouse is legally separated from the owner-occupant; and

(B) any child under the age of eighteen years of the owner-occupant claimed or eligible to be claimed as a dependent on the owner-occupant's federal income tax return.

(iv) In addition to the certification, the burden of proof for eligibility for the four percent assessment ratio is on the owner-occupant and the applicant must provide proof the assessor requires including, but not limited to:

(A) a copy of the owner-occupant's most recently filed South Carolina individual income tax return;

(B) copies of South Carolina motor vehicle registrations

for all motor vehicles registered in the name of the owner-occupant and registered at the same address of the four percent domicile;

(C) other proof required by the assessor necessary to determine eligibility for the assessment ratio allowed by this item.

If the owner or the owner's agent has made a proper certificate as required pursuant to this subitem and the owner is otherwise eligible, the owner is deemed to have met the burden of proof and is allowed the four percent assessment ratio allowed by this item, if the residence that is the subject of the application is not rented for more than seventy-two days in a calendar year. For purposes of determining eligibility, rental income, and residency, the assessor annually may require a copy of applicable portions of the owner's federal and state tax returns, as well as the Schedule E from the applicant's federal return for the applicable tax year.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(c)(2) (emphasis added).

Respondent made that entire factual showing, and the Appellant does not challenge the ALC's factual findings that Respondent resides at the subject property and that it is Respondent's domicile. The Appellant's contention, rather, is that Respondent's status as an H-1B visa holder makes her legally unable to have the subject property as her residence. A fundamental problem with the Appellant's position, however, is that there is no provision of law disqualifying this property from being Respondent's residence.

There are no expressly stated definitions of the terms "residence" or "domicile" in South Carolina's tax statutes in Title 12 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. South Carolina statutory law, however, does contain definitions of these terms, as S.C. Code Ann. § 7-1-25(A) provides that "[a] person's residence is his domicile. 'Domicile' means a person's fixed home where he has an intention of returning when he is absent.

A person has only one domicile.” This is consistent with case law about these terms that preceded this statute. As the ALC ruled, it is well established that these are substantively equivalent terms. (R. p. 9); see, e.g., Gasque v. Gasque, 246 S.C. 423, 426, 143 S.E.2d 811, 812 (1965) (construing statutory residence requirement as equivalent in substance to domicile); Phillips v. S.C. Tax Comm’n, 195 S.C. 472, 12 S.E.2d 13, 16 (1940) (recognizing that “[t]he phrase ‘legal residence’ is sometimes used as the equivalent of domicile”); Estate of Nicholson ex rel. Nicholson v. S.C. Dept. of Health & Human Servs., 377 S.C. 590, 597, 660 S.E.2d 303, 306 (Ct. App. 2008) (“a person's ‘legal residence’ is often determined by his or her domicile”).

While the tax statutes do not contain a definition of “legal residence,” South Carolina’s tax regulations do. “For property tax purposes the term ‘Legal Residence’ shall mean the permanent home or dwelling place owned by a person and occupied by the owner thereof and where he or she is domiciled.” S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 117-1800.1(2) (2012). Recognizing this, the ALC first analyzed whether Respondent was domiciled at the subject property during the tax year in question, 2017, and determined that she was. (R. pp. 9-11.)

The ALC noted, as follows, that intention to have a place as one’s home is the touchstone of what determines a person’s domicile:

In Gasque v. Gasque, our Supreme Court defined domicile as “the place where a person has his true, fixed and permanent home and principal establishment, to which he has, whenever he is absent, an intention of returning. The true basis and foundation of domicile is the intention, the *quo animo*, of residence.” 246 S.C. 423, 426, 143 S.E.2d 811,812 (1965) (citation omitted); accord O’Neill’s Estate v. Tuomey Hosp., 254 S.C. 578, 583, 176 S.E.2d 527, 530 (1970). The court further explained that “[t]he question of domicile is largely one

of intent to be determined under the facts and circumstances of each case.” Id. at 427, 143 S.E.2d at 812; see also Ravenel v. Dekle, 265 S.C. 364, 379, 218 S.E.2d 521, 528 [(1975)] (recognizing that “intent is a most important element in determining the domicile of any individual.”). Expanding on the principle that intent is the touchstone for determining an individual’s domicile, in Ravenel, the court provided an analytical framework for evaluating an individual’s intent: “any expressed intent on the part of a person must be evaluated in the light of his conduct which is either consistent or inconsistent with such expressed intent.” 265 S.C. at 379, 218 S.E.2d at 528.

Gasque and Ravenel establish that the question of domicile is unique to each instance and profoundly dependent upon the “facts and circumstances of each case.”

(R. p. 10.) “One of the essential elements to constitute a particular place as one’s domicile or principal place of residence is an intention to remain permanently, or for an indefinite time, in such place.” Barfield v. J.L. Coker & Co., 73 S.C. 181, 53 S.E. 170, 171 (1906).

Applying these principles here, the judge of the ALC found that the subject property is Respondent’s domicile and her residence. (R. p. 11.) The ALC judge noted the following evidence, all of which supports his findings and all of which is uncontradicted by anything else in the record:

Begum has lived in the state for over thirteen years and has resided in the Subject Property, the only home she owns, along with her family since July 2016. Begum also has a South Carolina driver’s license listing her address as the Subject Property, pays taxes to the State as a resident on her income, pays taxes for her real and personal property, and is firm and compelling in her testimony that, since purchasing the Subject Property, she intends this property to be her permanent home.

(R. p. 11.)

The terms “citizen” and “resident” are not synonymous and have a long history of being treated differently under South Carolina law. See Ravenel, 265 S.C. at 373-74. The language at issue in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(c)(1) deals with residence, not citizenship. Neither citizenship nor visa status is an element of the definitions of “residence” or “domicile” under South Carolina case law. See Ravenel, 265 S.C. at 379; O’Neill’s Estate, 254 S.C. at 583; Gasque, 246 S.C. at 426; Barfield, 53 S.E. at 171; Nicholson, 377 S.C. at 597. Neither of them is an element of the definitions of “residence” or “domicile” under S.C. Code Ann. § 7-1-25(A). Neither of them is an element of the legal definition of “residence” under South Carolina tax regulations. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 117-1800.1(2). Citizenship and visa status are the only reasons that the Appellant denied Respondent’s application for the four percent residential property tax rate. (R. pp. 5-6, 106, 107.)

Appellant argues that a holder of an H-1B visa has a status that “precludes the realization of intent to have a permanent residence in Florence County.” (Final Brief of Appellant p. 9.) The Appellant suggests that, while Respondent’s subject property is her residence as a matter of fact, it cannot be her *legal* residence because she is in this county on an H-1B visa.

As the ALC judge observed, however, the federal law providing for nonimmigrant aliens to be in the United States under an H-1B visa contains no legal impediment to such a visa holder establishing residence in the United States. 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(H)(i)(b); (R. p. 23). This is in contrast to language in some other non-immigrant visa classifications, as noted by the ALC judge. (R. p. 23.) “Indeed, in 8 U.S.C.A §§ 1101(a)(15)(B), (F), (H)(ii)(a), (J), (M), (O)(ii), (P), and (Q), Congress

explicitly limited eligibility for nonimmigrant status to those aliens having ‘a residence in a foreign country which the alien has no intention of abandoning’ or ‘foreign residence which the alien has no intention of abandoning.’” (R. p. 23.)

Even further, the ALC judge correctly noted that the former version of 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(H)(i)(b) *did* contain foreign-residence requirement language like that now present in 8 U.S.C. §§ 1101(a)(15)(B), (F), (H)(ii)(a), (J), (M), (O)(ii), (P), and (Q). 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(H) (West 1991). Congress removed that language from 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(H)(i)(b). “It will be presumed that the Legislature in adopting an amendment to a statute intended to make some change in the existing law.” Vernon v. Harleysville Mut. Cas. Co., 244 S.C. 152, 157, 135 S.E.2d 841, 844 (1964). When Congress amended the statute and enacted the present version of 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(H)(i)(b), it changed the law to remove the part of it that arguably could be said to make H-1B visa holder status inconsistent with legal residence in the United States. See id.

The Appellant asks this court to adopt the reasoning of Florida decisions concerning its homestead exemption and ineligibility of people living in Florida under a temporary visa to qualify for it. See DeQuervain v. Desguin, 927 So.2d 232 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006). This court should reject that request, for at least two independent reasons.

First, Florida courts have reached this result because Florida law mandates it. Fla. Admin. Code Ann. R. 12D-7.007(3) states that “[a] person in this country under a temporary visa cannot meet the requirement of permanent residence or home and, therefore, cannot claim homestead exemption.” South Carolina has no such statute or regulation.

Second, not only does South Carolina law have no provision like Fla. Admin. Code Ann. R. 12D-7.007(3), our tax statutes actually conflict with the idea of disparate treatment of taxpayers simply depending on whether they hold temporary visas. Per S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-210(A), our law commands that “[a]ll property must be assessed uniformly and equitably throughout the State.” Accord cf. S.C. Code Ann. § 27-13-10 (providing that an alien may hold property in the same manner as a citizen). In the same statutory scheme, S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220 begins with this language: “Except as otherwise provided, the ratio of assessment to value of property in each class shall be equal and uniform throughout the State. All property presently subject to ad valorem taxation shall be classified and assessed as follows[,]” after which the section sets out the various tax rates and the criteria for when each applies.

In other words, for property tax assessment purposes, distinctions are permitted to be made between pieces of property based on the criteria set out in the statute, but they are not permitted to be made based on other things. Id. Nowhere in the list of classifications in S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220 is a distinction regarding application of the four percent residential tax rate under S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(c)(1) permitted to be made based on the citizenship or visa status of the property’s owner. It would have been a simple matter for the General Assembly to write such a distinction into this subsection had it intended one; indeed, it drew such a distinction with regard to corporate ownership of agricultural real property. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(d)(1)(A)(iii) (excluding agricultural property owned by corporations that “[h]ave a nonresident alien as a shareholder” from application of four percent agricultural rate).

That citizenship and visa status are not elements of whether S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(c)(1) applies to a given piece of property is further supported by general principles of statutory construction.

“What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will. Therefore, the courts are bound to give effect to the expressed intent of the legislature.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) (quoting Norman J. Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction § 46.03 at 94 (5th ed. 1992)). “We are not at liberty, under the guise of construction, to alter the plain language of [a] statute by adding words [that] the [l]egislature saw fit not to include.” Shelley Constr. Co. v. Sea Garden Homes, Inc., 287 S.C. 24, 28, 336 S.E.2d 488, 491 (Ct. App. 1985).

First Citizens Bank & Trust Co., Inc. v. Blue Ox, LLC, 422 S.C. 461, 471, 812 S.E.2d 418, 423 (Ct. App. 2018).

Under South Carolina law, courts “must give the words found in the statute their “plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation.” Sloan v. Hardee, 371 S.C. 495, 498, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007). A court is not permitted “[t]o impute an exception that would require [the court] to read language into [a] statute that is not there.” First Citizens, 422 S.C. at 471.

While the Appellant trumpets the principle of construing tax exemption statutes strictly against the taxpayer, this principle does not override generally applicable principles of statutory construction, nor does it trump the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-43-220(c)(1).

In this case, interlaced with these standard canons of statutory construction is our policy of strictly construing tax exemption statutes against the taxpayer. See Se.-

Kusan, Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n, 276 S.C. 487, 489, 280 S.E.2d 57, 58 (1981). “This rule of strict construction simply means that constitutional and statutory language will not be strained or liberally construed in the taxpayer’s favor. It does not mean that we will search for an interpretation in [DOR]’s favor where the plain and unambiguous language leaves no room for [395 S.C. 75] construction.” Id. It is “[o]nly when the literal application of the statute produces an absurd result will we consider a different meaning.” Id. at 499–90, 280 S.E.2d at 58.

CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 74-75, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (brackets in CFRE opinion). Indeed, our Supreme Court has refused to read unwritten exceptions into tax exemption statutes. Id. at 76-77; Se.-Kusan, 276 S.C. at 490.

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